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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION
TONCA WATTERS, et al.
Plaintiffs,
V. No. 1:18ev-00270MPB-JMS

HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION AT THE
PRESERVE AT BRIDGEWATER, et al.

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N N

ORDER ON DEFENDANTS MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Plaintiffs Tonca Watters and Terence Watters (“the Watters”) have broughtihis
against Defendants, membdimmer membersresidents, or developers of the Homeowners
Association Board‘the HOA Board”)for the Preserves at Bridgewater, a neighborhood in
Kokomo, Indiana.@ocket No. ). Terence and Tonca Wattdssng claims under the Fair
Housing Act specifically42 U.S.C. 8361,/or interference, retaliation and race discrimination
(“Count I"), and failure to accommodat&ount 11”). (Docket No. 1 at ECF pp. 8-L0rhey
also bring a claim under2 U.S.C. § 198for interfering with the Watters’s property rights
(“Count 1lI"). (Id. at ECF pp. 10-)1All Defendants, the Homeowners Association at the
Preserve at Bridgewater (“th#OA”), Edward Mamaril, Kathryn Mamaril, Randy Lindgren,
Robert Dinn, Cherilyn Shook, David Barber, Chris Monroe, and Mile Ullery, move for
summary judgment as to all claimBacket No. 54 This matter is fully briefed.lfocket No.
53; Docket No. 54Docket No. 57 Docket No. 5. For the reasons that follow, the Court

GRANTS DefendantsMotion for Summary Judgmerfbocket No. 53.
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.  BACKGROUND

The following material facts are presented in the light most favorable Ridhmiffs as
the non-moving party.

Terence and Tonca Watteeside in the Preserve at Bridgewater (“the Preserve”), a
neighborhood in Kokomo, Indiand¢cket No. 54-1 at ECF p; Bocket No. 542 atECF pp.
3—4). They moved into their home in December 2015 and continue to residétfoeighout
this litigation. Docket No. 54-2 at ECF p. LIThey are the only Africamerican family in
the subdivision.[ocket No. 541 at ECFp. 29.

Defendant Ed Mamaril is a resident in the Preserve. He has been President of the HOA
Board since 2015 and has been on the HOA'’s Architectural Control Com(ttitieACC”)
since before that tim¢Docket No. 54-3 at ECF p).3Defendant Kate Mamaril is Edward
Mamaril’s wife and a former HOA Board President, but has had no role with theBo@wl
since 2015.[Pocket No. 54-4 at ECF p).3

Defendarg Mike Ullery and Chris Monroe are not HOA Board members, but are on the
ACC. (Docket No. 54-5 at ECF p);3Docket No. 54-5 at ECF p).5

The remaining defendants have been or are members of the HOA Board. Defendant

! Local Rule 56-1(b¥ets forth the movants and the non-movant’s obligations, respectively, in
summary judgment @fing. Subparagraph (b) requires the non-movant to include a response
that “must include a section labeled ‘Statement of Material Facts in Dispute’ thatiédethe
potentially determinative facts and factual disputes that the party contendssiez@ a dispute

of fact precluding summary judgment.” Local Rule 56-1(b). Moreover, subsectiprofejles

“[a] party must supporeachfact the party asserts in a brief with a citation to a discovery
response, a deposition, an affidavit, or other admissible evidence. . . . The citatioefenusta
page or paragraph number or otherwise similarly specify where the relevantatibn can be
found in the supporting evidencé.dcal Rule 561(e)(emphasis added). Terence and Tonca
Watters have not complied with these Local Rules, instead generically proaititgtement of
Facts.” “The court has no duty to seaocltonsidemany part of the record not specifically cited
in the manner described in subdivision (§.D. Ird. Local Rule 56-1(h)
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Randy Lindgren is the HOA Board Videresident.[pocket No. 54-3 at ECF p. L&Robert
Dinn has been an HOA Board Secretary, but is no longer on the Boadket No. 546 at
ECF p. 3. Cherilyn Shook is the HOA Board Treasurddotket No. 54-3 at ECF p. L6
Defendant David Barber is the HOA Board member at latdg. [n their own testimony,
Terence and Tonca Wattestste they have no claims or evidence to support any claims against
Randy Lindgren, Radrt Dinn, Cherilyn Shook, David Barber, or Chris Monroe, in their
individual capacities.focket No. 54-1 at ECF p. 22-23ocket No. 54-2 at ECF p. L2

The Watters raise a broad range of allegations in this suit, which can tgealrtay
category.

A. The Watters’'s Requests for Copies of Covenantnd other HOA Documents

Terence and Tonca Watteexjuested a copy of tlizedication and Restrictive Covenants
and Homeowners Association for the Preserve at Bridge#terCovenants’)but Kate
Mamaril, then HOA Board President, refused to give them g ¢Docket No. 54-2 at ECF p.
18). Thereafter, o October 28, 2013,erenceéWatters, by counsel, requested a copy of the
current bylaws of the HOA, a copy of the Bgws in place as ofpril 1, 2013, andg copy of
the transcript and/or minutes of the last meeting of the HOA from Ed Mantardkét No. 57-
1). NeitherEd Mamaril nor any member of the HOA Board complied wite requestTerence
and Tonca Wattersltimately obtained a copy of the covenants by purchasing a copy from the
Recorder’s office.[ocket No. 1 at ECF p.)3

Terence and Tonca Wattdsslieve that they were discriminated against by Ed Mamaril
and the HOA's failure to answer their requests. FilBA Board does not giveew residents
copies of the covenants; instead, new buyers are to obtain copies from thais aate

people from whom they are buying the houBmdket No. 54-4 at ECF p).3Another neighbor
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told TerenceWatters that another unknown individual, perhaps a board mémbgbe Kate)

or just someone else from the community, had given that neighbor a free copy of thentave
(Docket No. 54-1 at ECF p).8.ike Terence and Tonca Wattetke Mamarils also had to
obtain a copy of the covenants when they moved in by purchasing a copy from the Recorder’s
office. (Docket No. 54-4 at ECF p).3

Terence and Tonca Watteexjuested and were denied agendas for HOA meetings.
TerenceéWatters does not know the date of the meeting for which he requested an agenda that
was not provided.focket No. 54-1 at ECF p. 1L30n at least one occasidrerencé/Natters
was provided an HOA agenda when he requested Doekét No. 54-1 at ECF pp. 13,61
Terence and Tonca Watteadi&l not attend one HOA meeting while there was an order of civil
protection in place against Tonca Watters and in favor of Kate Miafanica could not say
whether she would have attended the HOA meeting if the protective order had nat jplees i
and she has nattended anyneetings after the protective order was no longer in plBoekéet
No. 54-2 at ECF p. )3None of the Defendants have tdldrence and Tonca Wattdhat they
cannot attend an HOA meetin@ddcket No. 54-2 at ECF p).9
B. Pets at the Preserve
The Covenants state that “[n]o pets shall be permitted to run lod3eckét No. 541 at

ECF p. 40. Terence and Tonca Wattdrave had issues with the Mamarilkaling their cats

to roam free and enter the Watters’s yard and cause damage to the Watters'y. jbopeket
No. 54-1 at ECF p.)6During the Watters’s home construction, the comsiibn crew was
regularly spending 280 minutes per day trying to get rid of the caisdket No. 542 at ECF

p. 3. When the Mamarils initially moved into the Preserves, prior to thdéhs’s arrival, they

allowed their cats to go free in the neighborhood without compl&otket No. 543 at ECF
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pp. 17-18. Kate Mamaril also feeds the stray or feral cats that roam the neighbahdddhs
done so prior tderence and Tonca Wattereving into the neighborhoo®(cket No. 54-zt
ECF p. 4. Mike Ullery and his wife allow their dog to urinate and defecate on the Watter
property. Pocket No. 54-2 at ECF p).3

Terence and Tonca Wattdrave repeatedly requested that the covenants be enforced.
(Docket No. 54-» Terence and Tonca Wattdsslieve that the covenants regarding pets have
not been enforced because of their rabecket No. 54-1 at ECF p).6The HOA Board has
not taken actions to actively enforce the covenants regarding pets becausentifeeténat | |
we have no way to reinforce that, other than for the City of Kokomo to intervene. The oedinanc
of the City of Kokomo supercedes [sic] that one sentence in the restrictive gavei2ocket
No. 54-3 at ECF p.;@ocket No. 54-6 at ECF p).5Terence and Tonca Wattdrad no
evidence that the HOA Board has ever taken an action to etfiercevenant.Cjocket No. 54-
1 at ECF p. 5-6, 18

The Ullery’s dog has urinated or defecated on other properties in the neighborhood
(Docket No. 54-2 at ECF p) and Mike Ullery has also walked his dog on other people’s
property in the neighborhood¢cket No. 54-2 at ECF p. L(Robert Dinn (@ucasian) has
also had problems with dogs and cats urinating and defecating in his yard, esafitaonts,
getting on his pool cover, and getting on his furnitubmoket No. 546 at ECF p. 9.

Terence and Tonca Wattdrave called the Humane Society to complain about pets in the
neighborhood not being restrained and these complaints have resulted in fines tm dtteers |

neighborhood, including the Mamaril®dcket No. 54-1 at ECF p. 1lDocket No. 543 at ECF

p. 5.
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C. Terence and Tonca WatterdRequest a Fence
The Covenants, which were executed in 2004, provide the following with respect to
fences:
6. ... No fence or wall shall be erected, placed or altered on any
lot unless approved in writing by the Architectural Control
Committee and the appropriate local government entity. . .
10. Pools, Fences and Miscellaneous Structures
Il.  Fences. Ndences, except those for pool safety and
decorative landscaping purposes approved by the
Architectural Control Committee, are allowed.
34.Each owner of a lot within The Preserve at Bridgewater shall be
responsible for the construction of any fence of brick, stone or
wood, that said owner desires to erect on said lot and shall do so
only with written approval by the Architectural Control
Committee.
(Docket No. 54-1 at ECF pp. 3747
On May 4, 2016Terence and Tonca Watteexjuested permission from the ACC to install
a sixfoot tall, vinyl privacy fence that was to enclose the Watters’s pool andiampaitheir
yard. Qocket No. 541 at ECF pp. 810)2 On May 20, 2016,he ACCadvisedTerence and
Tonca Wattersvia email, that their request had been deni@&bcket No. 541 at ECF p. 11
Docket No. 57 at ECF p. B The ACC advised erence and Tonca Wattdhat their “request
cannot be acted upon until more information is made known to the commiReeKet No. 57-
9 at ECF p. B The ACC further advisetlerence and Tonca Wattdepecifically, Terenceto:
Please direct your attention to the Dedication and Restrictive
Covenants for the Preserve at Bridgewater, Paragraph No. 10, sub
paragraph “B,” titled “Fences”, which reads: “No fences, except

those for pool safety and decorative landscaping purposes adprov
by the Architectural Control Committee, are allowed.”

2 Neither side provided the Court with the full email that Terence Watters sent to Nekg U
(Docket No. 57-9 at ECF p, providing only a portion of the mail).
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The only style fencing that would be considered for approval would
generically be described as “black wrought iron fencing”, although
the fence material can be made from materials other than iron.
Fences of this type are considered “safety” or “security” fences, not
privacy fences, and are acceptable because they allow for a
minimum of sight line interruption from lot to lot. Landscape
vegetation, however, may be planted on or around fencing hefurt
enhance privacy. Under no circumstances would the Architectural
Control Committee approve “privacy style” fencing such as you
have presented.

If you wish to submit another request for the construction of a fence
which conforms to the above restrictions, please include with your
request the reason for the fence, the style, height and material of the
fence and detailed site plan showing the exact location of the fence
with regard to existing structures.
(Docket No. 57-9 at ECF p).3
On February 21, 2017erence and Tonca Wattengere again told by the ACC that
“fencing which does not interrupt ‘line of sight’ is the only type the committdl approve. In
other words, privacy fences will not be approve@®d¢ket No. 54-1 at ECF p. hl
TerenceéWatters did not raise his disability when he initially requested a privamefin
2016. Pocket No. 541 at ECF p. 1R He informally advised the ACC about his disability of

idiopathic pulmonary fibrosisDocket No. 541 at ECFp. 11).2 Sometime around 2014, Mike

3 Terence Watters's exact testimony regarding his informal discussion @ik was:

Q: How did you explain [to the ACC that your disability was one of
the reasons you were requesting a privacy fence]?

A: | said | would be using my pool in therea for therapeutic
reasons, and | would like#H use for privacy for security or safety
or—I don’t know what the language is, but it was explained to them.
| don’t know the exact words, but it was explained to them. | didn’t
feel that | needed to go apdt my condition out there because under
the covenant, it didn’t say that | had a particular type or size of fence.
That’s why | put in for the type and size that | had requested for.

(Docket No. 54-1 at ECF p. 12
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Ullery became aware thdierenceWatters had a neourable respiratory diseas@dcket No.

545 at ECF p. @ Mike Ullery shared this information #i the HOA Board and Chris Monroe.
(Id.). On June 4, 2017 erenceWatters sent another request to Ed Mamaril as the HOA Board
President, which he states was a “formal Request [for a privacy fence]efsoRable
Accommodation under the Fair Housing AcDdcket No. 578 at ECF p. ). The letter further
stated: “This accommodation is reasonable and necessary in order for me themjyuse of

my property.” (d.). The letter advised thaterenceis “100% Disabled according to Social
Security Admimstration, Medicare and the Department of Veterans Affairs with as [sicledkfi
under the Fair Housing A&t(1d.).

On June 17, 2017, the HOA Board denledencés request finding the Fair Housing Act
inapplicable and explained that the Preservabseoe of privacy fences contributes to the
subdivision’sunique harmony in desigrD¢cket No. 579 at ECF p. 2 The HOA indicated that
it is considerate of its members’ privacy and recands the use of landscape vegetation for that
purpose.l@.). Terence and Tonca Wattet®l not submit a request for an alternative style fence.
(Docket No. 541 at ECF p. 1R TerenceWatters did not provide the HOA with more detall
regarding his disability after his June 4, 2017, letter because they newbr@slaket No. 54-1
at ECF p. 3p

In addition to his Ing issues, Terence Watters has PTE&IDcket No. 541 at ECF p. 2p
While on assignment in the military, Terence Watters had a traumatic expesighce dog,
which causes him to be stressed around dogs to thisldayBcause of his lung issues and his
PTSD, Terence Watters has difficult breathing, performing manua,tesncentrating, and he
is unable to work.ocket No. 576 at ECF p.  Terence Watters’s therapist told him that a

privacy fence would be “beneficial.Dpcket No. 541 at ECF p. 26 None of this information
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was provided to the HOA Board or the ACC when the privacy fence was requBsteket(No.
54-1 at ECF p. 27

Terence and Tonca Wattebglieve that their request for a privacy fence was denied
because of their raceDpcket No. 541 at ECF p. 8 The ACC has denied requests for fences
that would block the line of sign, including privacy fend@&socket No. 543 at ECF p. 8Docket
No. 54-5 at ECF p.)8As Ullery testified: “We decided we did not want to have a neighborhood
that each lot wasterrupted by a fence all the way around their yard, no privacy fence all the
way around the yard.'Docket No. 54-5 at ECF p)9

The ACC has denied requests or inquiries from other homeowners in the neighborhood,
besidesTerence and Tonca Wattefer privacy fences.ocket No. 543 at ECF pp. 818
Docket No. 546 at ECF pp. 34). Robert and Jaime Dinn built their home in 2006 to 2007.
(Docket No. 546 at ECF p. B They made an informal request for a privacy fence with Mike
Ullery, who built their homend is on the ACC, but Mike advised that they could not have a
privacy fence. Docket No. 546 at ECF pp. 34). Thereafter, when thBinn’s built their pool
and safety railing they applied for approval of the same from the ACC and rechka&ed t
committee’s approval in August 201D dcket No. 541 at ECF p. 5% Robert Dinnis Caucasian.
(Docket No. 546 at ECF p. B Jeremy Shearer inquired about a privacy fence sometime after
2015. Pocket No. 541 at ECF p. 5p His request wadenied,and he subsequently put in an
electronic fence to confine his do¢d.j. Jeremy Shearer is Caucasiadoc¢ket No. 545 at ECF
pp. 13-14). Thomas Yeary made a similar request to Jeremy Sheaeguesisometime after
2017 and was also denie@dcket No. 541 at ECF p. 5¢ Thomas Yeary is CaucasidB.ocket

No. 54-1 at ECF p. 30
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There has only been one hdhire the neighborhood with a “privacy fenceDdcket No.
54 at ECF p. ) Rick and Charlene Smith built their house in 2007, whichpeasibly prior to
the HOA and ACC's existence, and they petitioned the builders to allow g sirddiot-tall
cedar fence to be installed tidid not block any neighbor’s line of sight in order to contain the
dogs. Docket No. 54-1 at ECF p. h6The plan was acceptdd.
D. Terence and Tonca Watterdnstall a Swimming Pool
Like the fence, a homeowner must receive ACC approval for the installatiquoof.a
Terence and Tonca Wattdrslieve that they were discriminated against because some of the
Defendants delayed thgiool construction.focket No. 54-1 at ECF p. L&d Mamaril
indicated the ACC received tlagplication for the swimming pool the night before the pool was
to be installed.ocket No. 54-3 at ECF p. L.3The morning that the construction company
arrived at the Watters’s resiuee to install the pool Ed Mamaril and Mike Ullestppped the
construction from beginning and decided to review the plans on the Bpoket No. 543 at
ECF p. 13Docket No. 54-5 at ECF p. L0rhe plans werapproved, and construction was

allowedto proceed.focket No. 54-2 at ECF p; ®ocket No. 54-3 at ECF p. L3onstruction

4 Tonca Watters testified at her deposition that a second house in the neighborhood laay a priv
fence. Docket No. 54-2 at ECF p. L However, this testimony is demonstrably false, as shown
by the affidavit and pictures submitted by the homeowner establishing that tvyhasshort,
decorative and removable garden fence enclosing a small portion of hiddaokiet{ No. 54-8

The affidavit and pictures were provided in conjunction with the Defendants’ operehgrd

the accuracy of those pictures wad disputed by Terence and Tonca Watters in subsequent
briefing.

°> Defendants’ owrparties/witnesses disagree on when the ACC was formed. Mike Ullery
testified that the ACC was sap at the same time of the original covenabtscket No. 545 at

ECF p. 4. Theletter from Rick & Charlene indicated that they petitioned the builders because
there was no HOA at the timé&dcket No. 54-1 at ECF p. h6The 2004 Covenants indicate

that the HOA Docket No. 54-1 at ECF p. #and the ACCQocket No. 54-1 at ECF p. i#%vere
created simultaneously with the exgon of the Covenants. Regardless, as the analysis will
show, this disputed fact is not genuine.
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started the same day after a delay of only holrscKet No. 541 at ECF pl18; Docket No. 54-
5 at ECF pp. 10-11
E. Other HouseNeighborhoodlssues
Terence and Tonca Watteexjuested to have their mailbox placed on the same side of
the street as their hom@&dcket No. 54-1 at ECF p. REd Mamaril toldTerence and Tonca
Wattersthat they could not putraailbox on the same side of the street as the Watters’s home
and that, if they did, a lawsuit would be filed against théd). (Two other Caucasian families
were allowed to have their mailboxes on the same as their homes, but theseewerallgv
movedby the postal service after six months to a ydaocket No. 54-1 at ECF pp. 29930
Terence and Tonca Wattergre also tolfithat they had to have the posts on their porch
sit a certain way, but other Caucasian homeowrierge been allowed to have their posts in all
different ways. Docket No. 54-1 at ECF p. R9erence and Tonca Wattexere limited in the
type of color they could choose for their home and they could not have a color that was the
same color as a house within close proximity.)( But the Caucasian families werdoaled to
have the color of their choice and when their houses are close, they can be of tbelsame
(1d.).
The police have been called on Terence Watters twice while he was walking around the

neighborhood.@ocket No. 54-1 at ECF p. L&8e has “nod idea” who called the police and

® 1t is unclear who told Terence and Tonca Watters they had these resri@iocket No. 54-

1). This information was given in answer to a question: “Tell me what spegificalhy do you
believe that you're being discriminated against by the homeownersagsobiased on your
race?” PDocket No. 54-1 at ECF p. R9rhus, it is not clear if Terence is indicating that he was
told these things by the HOA Board, by the ACC, or by any of the individual Defendédere

is also no allegation that Terence and Tonca Watters madeal @€ C request for these items
and that request was denied.

" The Caucasian homeowners were not specifically identified in the cited tmegiddocket

No. 57. Again, the Court has no duty search the record.
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does not know if it was one of the Defendants.) (
F. Terence and Tonca Wattersand the Mamarils
Since the Watters’s 2015 arrival at the Preserve, théyre Mamarils have had
numerous run-ins. During the Watters’s home’s constructierence and Tonca Wattehsy
counsel, had sent a letter to the Mamarils requesting a copy of the Presstreggve
covenants.[focket No. 54-1 at ECF pp—8). Sometime thereafter, but befdirerence and
Tonca Wattersnoved into their home, Ed Mamaril askeerenceWaters, “Why did you
people move here? You could have moved somewhere dlsekét No. 54-1 at ECF p).&ed
Mamaril alsocalled Terence and Tonca Wattéuaspecified) names arnold Terence and
Tonca Watterfie had investigated thenbbdcket No. 54-2 at ECF p. 1.1
In March 2016, after Tonca had called the Humane Society on Kate Mamaril because her
cats had been on the Watters’s propekcording to Tonca Watter&ate Mamaril called her,
“black bitches, black niggers, and wanted to know why the F | moved out there, and | was
trouble and making her life miserableDdcket No. 54-2 at ECF p. L4Terence and Tonca
Wattershave called the Humane Society to complain about pets in the neighborhood not being
restrained and these complaints have resulted in fines to others in the neighborhadidgincl
the Mamarils. Docket No. 54-1 at ECF p. 1Docket No. 54-3 at ECF p)5
In June 2017Terence and Tonca Watteasd the Mamarils, both couples with other
family members, engaged in a dispute at a Cracker Basturant near their hontsther
Kate Mamatril or her daughtenrade a derogatory remark regarding Tonca Watters and her

grandchildren.Docket No. 54-2 at ECF p. }% Terence and Tonca Wattdedt the restaurant

8 From her testimony it is difficult to discern to whom Tonca Watters’s attributesatieenent.
(Docket No. 54-2 at ECF p. 1§ . . And | looked and it was Kate and her daughter sitting at
the table. And she said, ‘Look at her with nigger monkeys, little monkey niggers.tl8ogi®
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first, but were still in the parking lot when the Mamarils exited and pushed through the
Watters’s group(Docket No. 54-1 at ECF p. R3This occurrence resulted in the above-
discussed protective order.
IIl. STANDARD OF REVIEW
Summary judgement is appropriate when “the pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, jfsioyv that there is no
genuine issue as to any material faietl that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a
matter of law.”Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(¢ckee alscCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322
(1986) The court must view the evidence, and draw all reasonable inferences themetiwan, i
light most favorable to the nonmoving parydickes v. S.H. Kress & C&98 U.S. 144, 158-59
(1970) Landgrebe Motor Transp., Inc. v. District 72, Int’l Assoc. of Machini&s F.2d 241,
244 (7th Cir. 1985)The party that beatke burden of proof on a particular issue cannot rest its
case on the pleadings, but must demonstrate by specific factual allegadiaheitd is a genuine
issue of material fact that requires a triaglotex 477 U.S. at 324The plaintiff gets the benefit
of the doubt “only if the record contains competent evidence on both sides of a factual question.”
Patel v. Alstate Ins. Cq.105 F.3d 365, 367 (7th Cir. 199T)the plaintiff's evidence is “merely
colorable” or “not significantly probative,” then there is no genuine issugidand summary
judgment is appropriaténderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ine77 U.S. 242, 249-50 (1986)
. DISCUSSION
Defendants request samary judgment orach of the Watters’s three clairigith
respect to Randy Lindgren, Robert Dinn, Cherilyn Shook, David BaahdChris Monroe, in

their individual capacitie$laintiffs have offered no affirmative evidence in attempt to defeat

that effect concerning my grandchildren running through the restaurant beohgchi)l
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summary judgment and so their dismissal at summary judgment is a “forexyuheston.”
(Docket No. 54-1 at ECF pp. 22-=d3ocket No. 54-2 at ECF p. LZeeéWalton v. Claybridge
Homeowners Assoc., Ind.91 Fed. Appx. 446, 450 (7th Cir. 20@6pting individualcapacity
nameddefendants’ dismissals at summary judgment was a foregone conclusion latreifé p
offered no evidence concerning the defendants). Summary judgment is theppforaiate on
this basis alone. Even if it were not, the remaining discussion appliesswDefendants as
well.

The Court will first turn to the Watters'’s claims under the Fair Housind@atints | and
II). The Watters’s FHA claims, as set forth in their complaint, overlap and do not élgiinev
parties’ summary judgment briefing. Count | addresses violations of the FHA due t
interference, retaliation, and race discrimination, but Count Il also agdremlations of the
FHA due to race discrimination and disability. None of the Counts specify as tio whic
Defendants they are brought against. For the purposes of this analysis, the Céitst wil
consider the Watters’s general race discriminations allegations undéAhanid then will
address the Watters’s more specific race and disability discriminationshesACC’s denial of
their privacy fence, before turning to Plaintif$2 U.S.C. § 1982laim.
A. 42 U.S.C. § 361%4s Related to Racial Discrimination

Defendants argue that summary judgment is appropriate as\Wathers’s first two
claimsbrought unded2 U.S.C. § 361,he Fair Housing Act, becau$erence and Tonca
Watterscannot meet thprima facieelements of th&HA. The Seventh Circuit has recognized
that the protections afforded by the Fair Housing Act continue after the pakesmpbssession
of his home, condominium, or apartmeBloch v. Frischholz587 F.3d 771, 782 (7th Cir. 2009)

(en bang. Section 3617Makes it unlawful:
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to coerce, intimidate, threaten, or interfere with any person in the

exercise or enjoyment of, or on account of his having exercised or

enjoyed, or on account of his having aided or encourage any other

person in the exercise or enjoyment of, any right granted or

protected by section 3603, 3604, 3605, @& of this title.
42 U.S.C. § 36170f relevancesection 3604rotects against discrimination in the sale or rental
of housing. Sections 3604(a) and (b) have been interpreted as prohibiting discriminator
evictions, and “attempted discriminatory evictions can violate § 3617’s prohibitimsag
interference with § 3604 rightsBloch, 587 F.3dat 782 In other words the lack of a
constructive eviction does not foreclose the possibility that the defendantéefiet with the
plaintiffs’ enjoyment of their 8 3604 rights or “coerced” or “intimidated” thergiffs on
account of their having exercised those rights. The Seventh Circuit has explained that this
interpretation of 8 3617 is aligned with HUD regulatiad,C.F.R. § 100.400(c)(2Wwhich
prohibits “[t]hreatening, intimidating or interfering with persons in their engyinof a dwelling
because of the race, color . . . [or] handicap . . . of such per&osli 587 F.3d at 781

So the8§ 3617question in this case is whether thef@hdants coercedtimidated,

threatened, or interfered with the Watters’s exercise or enjoyment ofigigito inhabit their
home because of their race or TereWaters’s handicafas analyzed in the next sectioA¥
the Seventh Circuit has explained:

To prevail on a § 3617 claim, a plaintiff must show that (1) she is a

protected individual under the FHA, (2) she was engaged in the
exercise or enjoyment of her fair housing rights, (3) the defendants

® Defendants assert that to support a claim ugd&&17for a violation of§ 3604a plaintiff must
provide evidence of acts analogous to a constructive evicbaakét No. 54 at ECF p. 16

citing Lewis v. SchmidNo. 10 CV 1819, 2011 WL 43029 (N.D. Ill. Jan 4, 20H9wever,
Lewisdid not bring a claim undéy 3617citing a violation of§ 3604 but instead brought a claim
under 8§ 3604 directly. As discussedBioch it is clear that the Seventh Circuit has set forth
different standards for a claim brought un8€604directly or undeg 3617 SeeBloch 587

F.3d at 781-82‘to hold otherwise would make 361 7entirely duplicativeof the other FHA
provisions; though its language is unique in the FHA[.]").
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coerced, threatened, intimidated, or interfered with the plaimtiff o
account of her protected activity under the FHA, and (4) the
defendants were motivated by an intent to discriminate.
“Interference” is more than a “quarrel among neighbors” or an
“isolated act of discrimination,” but rather is a “pattern of
harassmentnvidiously motivated.”

Bloch 587 F.3dat 782-83 (citations omitted).

Terence and Tonca Wattarlgarly meet the first two elements: they are African
American and, iMerencé/Natters’s case, have a disabilignd they own a house they
purchased at the Preserve at Bridgew#erto race, which is this section’s focus, a showing of
intentional discrimination is essenti&astMiller v. Lake County Highway Dep421 F.3d
558, 563 (7th Cir. 2005)his intent may be shown either directly or indirectly under the burden
shifting method set forth iWcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Gregdl1 U.S. 792 (1973peeEast
Miller, 421 F.3d at 563The conducTerence and Tonca Watteabege occurred must also rise
to the level of coercion, intimidation, or interference h&617was designed to addreSee
id.

The Seventh Circuit has emphasized that a party wishing to avoid summary madgme
must presersomeevidence from which a jury could rationally infer that the events complained
of are motivated by intentional discriminatidfastMiller, 421 F.3d at 564Here there is no
direct evidence of discriminatory intei@ee, e.gKormoczy v. Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Housing
and Urban Development on Behalf of Brig§8 F.3d 821, 824 (7th Cir. 1996Direct
evidence is that which can be interpreted as an acknowledgment of the defendant’s
discriminatory intent.”)Terence and Tonca Watterggue thatwith regards to Kate and Ed
Mamaril, the racial slurs and references to “you people” are direct evidence of in&ntio

discrimination. Docket No. 57 at ECF p. 12Racial slurs can create an inference of race

discrimination.SeeEastMiller, 421 F.3d at 563But, theras a difference between a pattern of
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and an isolated act of harassmeétulprin v. Prairie Single Family Homes of Dearborn Park
Ass’n 388 F.3d 327, 330 (7th Cir. 20040 Halprin, the Seventh Circuit held the plaintiff’s
complaintwassufficient to survive a motion to dismiss because the allegations that the
homeowners’ asgiation waged a campaign of harassment against the plaintiff on account of
his religion presented the type of pattern that could vig&@17 In another case, however, the
Seventh Circuit held that a homeowner could not prevail at trial based on racialysdurs b
homeowner who was also on the homeowner association ISsed/alton 191 Fed. Appxat
452 Moreover, “you people,” as used by Ed Mamaril, by itself is not necessaaityah slur.
SeeBush v. J&J Transmission, IndNo. 11ev-289, 2014 WL 123439, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 14,
2014)(“While it is undeniable that the phrase ‘you people’ [and similar phrases] candim use
a derogatory manner, here, there is vidence that this was [Defendant’s] intent and [Plaintiff]
fails to proffer any arguments or evidence [otherwise].”) (internal quotatimiised).The
Seventh Circuitilsonoted that the individual’s “board membership” was not enough for the

stray remarko have “some nexus’ to the challenged acti@et id(citing Scaife v. Cook
County 446 F.3d 735, 741 (7th Cir. 2006%ee als&heikh v. Rabirb65 Fed. Appx. 512, 518
(7th Cir. 2014)"“But taken together, these allegations would establish only that different
neighbors at different times made shameful statements, not that any indnadyidor (or the

neighbors as a group) interfered with Sheik’s rights under [the FHR The remarkdy the

Mamarils taken at this stage as having occurkellije troubling, are simply too attenuated

10 Terence and Tonca Watters citeMehta v. Bolingbrook196 F. Supp. 3d 855, 867 (N.D. Il
2016)for the proposition that there is no authority that a nexus is required betweendahe rac
comments and the challenged agtioUnlikeMehta where the defendants citad authority for
their argument, here the defendants have &hifatton which is factually analogous with this
case, and several otheraircuit cases to support their argumetoc¢ket No. 54 at ECF pp. 17—
18). Terence and Tonca Watters did not addres$liléoncase’s use of the “nexus”
application.
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from any of the challenged actiorgeeWalton 191 Fed. Appx. at 45@[The Seventh Circuit]
recognized that an isolated racial or religious slur made in the contextigherood quarte
does not a federal discrimination case create.”)

Additionally, no evidence was offered to show intentional discrimination due to the other
alleged “interferences,” such as calling the police on Terdraiters as he walks through the
neighborhood, delaying the installation of the pool, denying the installation of theyprivac
fence, the Cracker Barrel incident and the subsequent protectivetbedpet incidents,
investigatingTerence and Tonca Wattdysfore they moved in, and the mailbox incidents.
(Docket No. 57 at ECF pp. 13914n examination of this evidence, individually and as a
whole, shows that the evidence is insufficient to create a triable issue, asti tdéimonstrate
that any improper action that negatively affected the Watters’s fair hougimg was
motivated by race.

Terence and Tonca Wattdrave no evidence that the Board or any of the individual
Defendants called the police on Terence and Tonca Walteissallegation provides no support
for the Watters’s claimsSeeWalton 191 F. App’x at 451“[Plaintiff] cannot even say who was
responsible for the ‘numerous occasions’ that police were called to her house, avifay le
trash in her yard and mailbox”). The delay in the installation of the Watters’s gdaoh {asted
no more than a few hours at most, wWasminimisand justified. The evidence shoWwsrence
and Tonca Wattersubmitted their pool plans shortly before the pool’s installation date. The
committee approved the plans on the spot in order to not further delay the pool installation.

The Cracker Barrel incident does not supploet\Watters’s FHA discrimination claim.
This incident did not occur in the neighborhood, was not a Board or HOA function, and did not

involve other residents of the neighborhood. Tonca Watterstsnony makes clear that Ed
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Mamaril attempted to descalate the situation by telling his adult daagto “leave [Terence
and Tonca Watters] alone and get in her c&daoket No. 54-2 at ECF p. LZT'he Cracker
Barrel incident appears to have begreasonal incident involving the Mamaril and Watters
families. Public disputes or altercations between people who live in the sarnkearbmpd do
not form the basis of a federal claim for the denial of fair housing righes Cracker Barrel
incident and the protective order that followed simply showTkeatnce and Tonca Watters
and the Mamarils have a tumultuous relationship and clearly do not get along.

It is arguable that the residents of the Preserves generally do not fodldetter of the
City ordinances or restrictive covenants regarding pet ownership. Yet, no authistisyt@x
support the proposition that the failure to take some unidentified action to enforoamisve
equates to a federal civil rights violation. Moreoviegrence and Tond&/attersare not being
treated differently than other homeowners with respect to pets-undisputed that peteam
free on other homeowners’ properties in addition to the Watters'’s property. Thariidam
allowed their cats to roam free before Terence and Tonca Waibeed to the neighborhood—
thus, it cannot be concluded that the Mamarils direct their cats onto the Wattepggty
because of the Watters’s racetlas Mamarils allowed their cats to roam free prioféoence
and Tonca Wattersving in the neighborhood. The evidence shows thaHtBé Board simply
does not enforce pet restrictionsiags, the Watters’s claims regarding racial discrimination in
the context of pet violations failSeeBloch, 587 F.3d at 78fecognizing that neutral
enforcement of a rule does not equate to intentional discrimination).

Terence and Tonca Wattdrave not shown or articulated how Ed Mamaril’s
investigation had any affect on their housing rightrence and Tonca Wattereved into

their residence after being informed of this investigation and have not arguadyhat
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investigation either made tipeocess more difficult or has otherwise affected their ability to use
their home. Absent such a causal connection, any investigation is irrelevant ambtoe
constitute a violation of the FHA or of any constitutional rigBimilarly, it is undisputedhat

other homeowners who put their mailbox on the wrong side of the street were notified of thi
fact by the HOA Board and were ultimately required to move their mailbox byote Ffice.
(Docket No. 54-3 at ECF p; ®ocket No. 54-5 at ECF p).dn sum, nothing in the record
establishes direct evidence of discrimination by any defendant.

However, the direct method is not the only way to prove intentional discrimination under
the Fair Housing Act; a party can use the indirect, bustéfiting method articulated in
McDonnell Douglas Corp411 U.Sat802-03 See alsd&astMiller, 421 F.3d at 56&iting
Kormoczy 53 F.3d at 823—-824Terence and Tonca Wattersoke that method here/b
offering evidence that the ACC denied their request for a fence, but that otlvasi@au
families that were similarly situated were permitted to have a fence. To creaferande of
discrimination undeMcDonnell DouglasTerence and Tonca Wattdrad to show that her
Caucasian neighbors were similarly situated taeated more favorabl&eeBallance v. City of
Spiingfield, 424 F.3d 614, 617 (7th Cir. 200®@Yticulating similarly situated requirement in
Title VII context). This they have not donkerence and Tonca Watteassert that the Smiths
(Caucasian) were similarly situated and had a privacy feBoekét No. 57 at ECF p. 14
Even drawing the inference, as the Court must, that the HOA and the ACC exisietirae of
the Smith’s request, the Smiths are not similarly situatedusedaey requested a smalk-
foot-tall-cedar fence to be installed that did not block any neighbor’s line of digitkét No.
54-1 at ECF p. 58Docket No. 54-5 at ECF p. L45eeRadue v. Kimberly—Clark Corp219

F.3d 612, 617-18 (7th Cir. 20Q@yverruled on other grounds l&yrtiz v. Werner Enterprises,
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Inc., 834 F.3d 760 (7th Cir. 201@roviding that “similarly situated” means that individuals
“engaged in similar conduct without such differentiating or mitigating circumstasxwould
distinguish their conduct”)Terence and Tonca Watteatso assert that the Stedrys (Caucasian)
were similarly situated and were allowed to install a white garden fenceuvetdeking
permission from the Architectural CommitteBogket No. 57 at ECF p. L4Again, the Stedrys
are not similarly situated fberence and Tonca Watteas their home has a thrémot-picket
fence that encloses a small garden, notdagkvinyl privacy fence that would enclose a pool
and a portion of the Watters’s yar@.dcket No. 54-8 at ECF pp. 1). The fence does not
block the line of sight and is a decorative fence specifically allowed by the ctsefeacket
No. 54-1 at ECF p. 3®Docket No. 54-5 at ECF p).7Thus, whether the Stedry/Smith fences
were properly approved by the ACC is irrelevant. These fences are not gisitizated gen
the differentiating circumstance, i.e., that the Watters’s fence would Iedke of sightSee
Goodwin v. Bd. of Trs. of Univ. of |I442 F.3d 611, 618 (7th Cir. 200@&fusing to infer
intentional discrimination from treatment of employees who were not similarly sitteate
plaintiff).

The ACC has denied multiple requests by Caucasian homeowners for privasy $esce
suprg Section I. C. This includes Robert and Jaime Dinn, Caucasians, who made an informal
request for a privacy fence to ACC member Mike Ullery, who advised themdhé&d/rmot have
a fence Docket No. 54-6 at ECF pp. 3)-4eremy Shearer, Caucasian, was denied a privacy
fence around 2013pcket No. 54-1 at ECF p. 5and Thomas Yeary, Caucasian, was denied
a privacy fence sometime after 20Db¢ket No. 541 atECF p. 57. This evidence aligns with
Ullery’s testimony: “We decided we did not want to have a neighborhood that eactslot wa

interrupted by a fence all the way around their yard, no privacy fence all therewayd the
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yard.” (Docket No. 54-5 at ECF p).9Additionally, the Watters’s post and color issues have not
set forth sufficient evidence to determine if the unnamed Caucasian neiglaoersimilarly
situaed.SeeCelotex 477 U.S. at 32{requiring party carrying theuoden of proof to provide
specific factual allegations as to genuine issues of material fact).
As the Seventh Circuitaspreviouslystated the FHA was not drafted to permit quarrels
between neighbors to become a routine basis for federal litigetadprin, 388 F.3d at 330
The evidence falls short of the convincing mosaic required to show intentional distiomi
See generallfgastMiller, 421 F.3d at 56{affirming summary judgment for defendants&®n
3617claim and noting that the incidents at issue may have inconvenienced the iatrdifi
not present a triable issue of intentional discrimination). The Defendants dleddnti
summary judgment on the Watterg3 U.S.C. § 361¢laims based on racial discrimination.
B. 42 U.S.C. § 361as Related to Disability and Reasonable Accommodation
The Fair Housing Act, as amend@BHAA”) , makes it unlawful to discriminate against
a person with a handicap by refusing “to make reasonable accommodations in ridies, pol
practices, or services, when such accommodations may be net¢esséoyd such person equal
opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling2 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B)The basic elements of an
FHAA accommodation claim are wedkttled.”Wis. Cmty. Servs., Inc. v. City of Milwauké465
F.3d 737, 752 n. 12 (7th Cir. 200@n bang. “The FHAA requires accommodation if such
accommodation (1) is reasonable, and (2) necessary, (3) to afford a handicappethpezgual
opportunity to use and enjoy a dwellin@tonomowoc Residential Programs v. City of
Milwaukee 300 F.3d 775, 783 (7th Cir. 2002)
An accommodation is “reasonable” when it imposes no “fundamental alteration in the

nature of the program” or “undue financial and administeaburdens.Southeastern
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Community College v. David42 U.S. 397, 410 (197.9Equal opportunity” under the FHAA is
defined as “giving handicapped individuals the right to choose to live in Jengiéy
neighborhoods, for that right serves to end the exclusion of handicapped individuals from the
American mainstream3mith & Lee Assocs., Inc. v. City of Taylbd2 F.3d 781, 794-95 (6th

Cir. 1996) Equal opportunity is tied to whether an accommodation is “necessary.” To show that
the privacy fence is necessary, Terence and Tonca Wiadtestsshow thaterence Watters will

be denied equal opportunity to live in the residential neighborhood without the requesteg priva
fence as opposed to a wrought-iron fence with landscaping or some other type oSkesce.
Oconomowoc300 F.3d at 78¢'In other words, the plaintiffs must show that without the

required accommodation they will be denied the equal opportunityetinlia residential
neighborhood.”).

Terence and Tonca Wattdrave failed to provide sufficient evidence to allow a
reasonable trier of fact to conclude that the fence is nece3saystate that Terence Watters
needs a privacy fence because of hislPa8d lung condition. However, Plaintiffs have not
come forward with admissible testimony showing that such is the case. This &t ¢
consider the hearsay testimony regarding statements allegedly made meVéaters’s
therapistsSeeEisenstadt v. Centel Corpl13 F.3d 738, 742 (7th Cir. 1997)H]earsay is
inadmissible in summary judgment proceedings to the same extent that it is inadmissible in a
trial.”). Even if the Court consideferencéVatters’s inadmissible hearsay testimony, it would
be insufficient to show that the specific privdepce requested was necessary. The alleged
statement that a privacy fence would be “beneficial” does not show that the fémeeeissary
The statement does not indicate that the privacy fence requested by Terence and/dibers

would be more beneficial than the wrouglair fence with landscaping or trees suggested by the
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Board. And even if such a statement was offered, it would not be sufficient to sholethat t
Watters’s requested fence is necesgafysSmith v. Concentra, Inc240 F. Supp. 3d 778, 784—
85 (N.D. Ill. 2017)(“A reasonable accommodation need not be an employee’s preferred
accommodation or the most beneficial accommodation for the employee; once thgeemplo
offers an alternative that reasonably accommodates the employee’s [] reest@gutory inquiry
is at an end.”}!

This evidence combed with the fact thaterenceWatters has lived in his home for
several years without the requested fence illustrates that the deniatexjueést has not denied
him an equal opportunity to enjoy the housing or community of his cheeéaeloward v. City
of Beavercreek276 F.3d 802 (6th Cir. 2008affirming summary judgment for defendant where
plaintiff failed to show sixoot privacy fence was “necessary” for his PTSD given his treating
physician only provided that the fengayrelieve his undustress)See als@rubbs v. Hous.
Auth. of JolietNo. 91 C 6454, 1997 WL 281297 (N.D. lll. May 20, 190he record is devoid
of medical evidence concerning the extent of plaintiff's back injuries or bis foe ongoing hot
bath treatments.”)Terence and Tonca Wattdrave not provided any admissible medical
evidence showing that a privacy fence is necessary becaliseeoé/Natters’s disability.

While the privacy fence may have reduced some of the stress that T@fattess is reportedly
subjected to, the ACC*denial of the privacy fence has neither exclufieten@ and Tonca

Wattersfrom the neighborhood or residence of his choice, nor has it created less opportunity for

1 The same analysis regarding reasonable accommodation applies across theneréans
with Disabilities Act and the Rehabilitatidkct. Valencia v. City of Springfield, 1llinojs883
F.3d 959, 967 (7th Cir. 2018)

12 Unless specified otherwise this section’s references to the ACC/HOA Boar
interchangeable since the evidence shows that some of Terence and Tonca Watters’s
communications went through the ACC and some went through the HOA Board.
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TerenceéWatters to live in his neighborhood.

Moreover, the ACC provided a reasonable accommodation to the Watters’s request for a
privacy fence B stating that a wroughton fence as well as landscaping would be allowable.
(Docket No. 57-9 at ECF p).2SeeStevens v. Hollywood Towers & Condominium As336 F.
Supp. 2d 800, 811 (N.D. Ill. 201{necognizing that if defendants offereasonable
accommodation there can be no claim for interference with housing rights). Fin¢h&C €
instructedTerence and Tonca Wattdmssubmit alternative fence designs, but instead of taking
that opportunitylerence and Tonca Wattdiied this suit.(Docket No. 57-9 at ECF p) 2

Terence and Tonca Wattagise Beck v. Univ. of Wisc. Bd. of Regems F.3d 1130,

1135 (7th Cir. 1996%0 argue that because there was a breakdown in the accommodation process
there is a material issue of fact that cannot be resolved on summary judgnBeak the
Seventh Circuit discussed the requirements placed on employers and empldyeespgitt to
accommodation requesiBhe court noted:

No hardand fast rule will suffice, because neither party should be

able to cause a breakdown in the process for the purpose of either

avoiding or inflicting liability. Rather, courts should look for signs

of failure to participate in good faith or failure by asfethe parties

to make reasonable efforts to help the other party determine what

specific accommodations are necessary. A party that obstructs or

delays the interactive process is not acting in good faith. A party that

fails to communicate, by way of iration or response, may also be

acting in bad faith. In essence, courts should attempt to isolate the

cause of the breakdown and then assign responsibility. For example,

the cause of the breakdown might be missing information.

Id. at 1135-36
The Watters’s June 4, 2017, formal FHA request simply statgd erence Watters was

disabled and requested a privacy fence “for me to enjoy the full use of my pro(iedcket

No. 54-1 at ECF p. 98Terence and Tonca Wattet&l not raise Tance Watters’s PTSD in
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this request and provided no information regarding the incident with a dog refenemied i
deposition, his affidavit, and the Wattersisnmary judgment briefingDocket No. 541 at
ECF pp. 26—27/Docket No. 57-6Docket No. 54-1 at ECF p. 5Bocket No. 54-5 at ECF p.
14). In response to the Watters’s request, the HOA Board declined the requeptif@cy
fence, but invited'erence and Tonca Wattdssubmit an alternative style of fence and
recommended the use of landscape vegetation to enhance pridacket No. 54-1 at ECF pp.
59-60 (“The HOA is considerate of its members’ privacy and recommends the use of
landscape vegetation for privacy. If you wish to erect a fence, please subatiiérnative style
of fencefor approval to the [ACC]")Terence and Tonca Watteat&l not respond. Under these
circumstances there is no material issue of fact with respect to who stoppettaction that
precludes summary judgment in favor of defendants.

Finally, the Plaintifs have failed to provide sufficient evidence to allow a reasonable trier
of fact to conclude that the defendants knewerencés disability that he alleges necessitated
the accommodation. Claims based on alleged discrimination because of disehdigjiy
require a showing that the defendant knew of the disaldfiégA.B. v. Hous. Auth. of S. Bend
No. 3:11 CV 163 PPS, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71016 at *22 (N.D. Ind. May 18, 204#)e
some 6 the defendants, such as Mike Ullery, had general knowledgerefhceVNatters’s
respiratory conditionlfocket No. 54-5 at ECF p),&his general knowledge has no logical
connection tdahe request for a privacy fence. Terence and Tonca Wattergled substantial
testimony during discovery regardiigrencéVNatters’s fear of dogs, y#teydid not provide
this information to the Defendants at the time the request was (Ramtédeet No. 54-1 at ECF p.

27). Terence and Tonca Wattesisnply said thaTerencéVatterswas disabled and wanted a
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privacy fence'?

This case is distinguishable frarollis v. Chestnut Bend Homeowner’'s As2614 WL
4446834 (M.D. Tenn. Sept. 10, 20;14)non-binding case relied on by the Plaintiffs, in several
material aspects. IHollis the plaintiffs’ requested house modification included metal roofing,
which the physical therapist had indicated would provide plaintiffs’ handicapped children
additional sensory benefits that the defendants’ proposed-shingle roof would not drbwtle.
*8. Moreover, metal roofing was listed as an acceptable material for roofasgalready used
by at least one member of the community, and the approving body had already coreduaica
the plaintiffs would be permissible. Hefiegrence and Tonca Wattdrave not provided
sufficient evidence regarding necessthe fencing has not previously been used in the manner
Terence and Tonca Wattenderd to use it, and the fencing has not been explicitly listed as an
acceptable material by the HOA Board or the ACC. Notably, the plaintifi®liis moved out
of the neighborhood shortly after their modification was dendedt *3. These are just a few of
the reasons that court’s denial of defendasiishmary judgment is inapplicable to the instant
case.

Absent evidence that would allow a reasonable jury to conclude that the pewaey f

requested was both a necessary and reasonable accommddatoce and Tonca Watters

131n the Watters’s response brief they indicate thfér defendants filed their motion for
summary judgment Terence and Tonca Watters provided medical records raetehes&@TSD
and lung condition.focket No. 57-Y. The unredacted portions of this medical record, dated
May 11, 2A.7 (well after Terence and Tonca Watters first requested the privacy fenocejayn
references any accommodations that Terence Watters needs. Relatedly, Terenceand To
Watters cite two notinding cases (one of which was also unpublished) for theopitogn that
medical testimony is not required to establish a disability and a person’s testsvamough to
establish a material question of fa@otket No. 57 at ECF p. L™Nevertheless, the Watters’s
argument misses the point that even if the Court assumes the disabilities and thatéhey w
known to Defendants, Terence and Tonca Watters have failed to provide sufficiemtcevio
create a question of fact that those disabilities make the privacy fence a necessity
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cannot succeed dheiraccommodation claim, and the Defendants are entitled tonamn
judgmenton the Watters’¢2 U.S.C. § 361&@ccommodation claim
C. 42 U.S.C. § 1982
42 U.S.C. § 1983tates “[a]ll citizens of the United States shall have the same right, in
every State and Territgras is enjoyed by white citizens thereof to inherit, purchase, lease, sell,
hold, and convey real and personal proper.’U.S.C § 1982To state a claim und& 1982
plaintiffs must allege that the defendant had a racial animus, intended tmishate against the
plaintiff, and deprived the plaintiff of protected rights because of the plasnt#€e.Whisby-
Myers v. Kiekenap®93 F. Supp. 2d 845, 850 (N.D. Ill. 2008he Court need not discuss the
Watters’'s§ 1982claim separaly, because that claim, like the FHA claims, will survive only if
the record demonstrates triable issues of fact on intentional discrimiraeéi@viorris v. Office
Max, Inc, 89 F.3d 411, 413 (7th Cir. 1996)
IV.  CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Watters’s claims against all defendanssaaniatte of
law. DefendantsMotion for Summary JudgmeistGRANTED.

SO ORDEREDhis 19thday ofNovember2019.

,Ww? Bz o

Matthew P. Brookman
United States Magistrate Judge
Southern District of Indiana

Service will be madelectronicallyon all ECFregistereccounsel of record viamailgenerated
by the court's ECF system.
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